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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASEENGTON, 1Y O 204038

June 6, 2003

MEMORANDUM SENSITIVE

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
ROBERT J. COSTA %
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON g -

ASSISTANT STAF/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2002 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL
REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2002 12 Day Pre-
General Report. This final determination recommendation is comprised of unauthorized
committees filing monthly and authorized committees whose candidates sought election
in the November 5% General Election. The first list represents committees that have paid
the civil money penalty and the second list represents those that have not paid. ; The
committees that have not paid have been given at least forty {40) days from the date of the
Commission’s RTB finding to remit payment. . -

In accordance with 11 CFR. 11134 and 11 CF.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.

RAD Recommendation
(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties s0

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID




|
, 600°€S 0% 000'cS £002/L0/Y0
| 0 £a5°29% pOITd 3IOH zo0o2/6T/11
qyw3IN3n-3Nd A¥AQ 2T Z0OT qr3Is L0113 1T26%100D
70d ¥OZ GIZINYOMO SIAXCTAWI DITENE FHISIY ‘1¢ TI0NAOD IDIWLSIA ¥1803Y

AN IT¥NG3 23T ¥

005’15 09 00518 £002/L0/ %0
z 566'0Z§ peTTd IcH Z002/1T/11
TYyaINIO-g9d RA¥JI 1 2002 -bsd sIamol4 '3 uwOl GLEBZEDOD 4 XHoo3gso 's5NZINW
AN SEgUGNOD MOJ SuNIAN  ¥QB0aV
o0o‘zs 09 con'zs €00Z/L0/V0
O Q 1ve’ges PeTTI 2I0H £GOZ/TT/EC
TYuaNdo-dud A¥Q Z1 Z0OZ ZLYTYIT INOL & §8969£003 7 FNIZTIAYH ‘OTIVGHOH
o z00z OT1IVQ¥od Z HNIATIAYH LIITI ol JITIIWKOD 20903Y
SL6S 09 GLES £002/L0/%0
0 680°'26S L zZoozZ/1E/0T
TyyINIO-IUd AVQ IT 2002 MINHOSUYH AZ¥JIJEL HR 9658LE00D d Hagsor ‘RITINIS
AN g5I¥ONOD HOJ AZTNIJ FOr 66LOSY
ALIVHIE AINOHW TIAID TYNIZ gld IONIE SAVC RII¥NId €L14 FIVQ €I
SHOIIVTIOIA SNOIATHL ATLIAIIOV d0 TIATT dI¥T SRNQ grvad L4IF03¥
33XI LHO0JEH YIYNEVIHL g1 SEILIWHOD SHYN SLVGIANYS
JIVIE ZWYH FILLIWWOD § av
aivd ION
1 :3pvd I¥odad NOILVTIADHID NOIIVHIWEILIC YHIL
£00Z/90/90 3I¥C - N ¥00Z-€002 mbumnﬂz:ou NOILO3T3 Tv¥IQEd




e @ Cﬁ,&d&m
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Wl—;shington, DC 20463 SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Monday, June 09, 2003 41:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Thursday, June 12, 2003 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:  Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For the 2002 12 Day Pre-General Report. Memorandum from
The Assistant Staff Director Reports Analysis Division dated

June 6, 2003.
() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() ! approve the recommendations except those following
in which 1 abstain (please insert AF#)

{) | approve the recommendations except those foilowing
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() { am not vating on this tally. a

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Flease return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSICN

Iin the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final
Determination for the 2002 12 Day
Pre-General Report.
e KENDRICK MEEK FOR CONGRESS, and
& ANTHONY BRUNSON as treasurer;
HORNBERGER FQR SENATE, and JOHN K
e BROWN ag treasurer;
LEVEL 2 COMMUNICATIONS INC. POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and Pribyl, James as
Z treasurer;
i AMERICAN FINANCIAL SERVICES ASS'N PAC
R (FORMERLY- NATIONAL CONSUMER FINANCE
ik ASS'N PAC), and GEORGE SHAWN MCELWEE
E as treasurer;

AF# 798

AF# 805

AF# 807

AF# 808

APPRAISAL INSTITUTE POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and DONALD E KELLY as
treasurer;

BUSPAC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE OF

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)  AF# 809
)

)
)
THE AMERICAN BUS ASSOCIATION, and ERIC )
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

AF# 810

BRAENDEIL as treasgurer;

CALFEE HALTER/GREEN FUND FOR GOOD
GOVERNMENT, and Oberdorff, Marc as
treasurer:

EDS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
William R. Sweeney Jr. asg treasurer;
ENERGCY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE OF
TYXU CORP, and Gonzales, Jacob as
treasurer;

FIRST NATIONAL OF NEBRASKA PAC, and
Castner, Anna as treasurer;
GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN, LIPOFF,
ROSEN & QUENTEL, P A POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and CLIFFORD A SCHULMAN as
treasurexr;

INDEPENDENT INSURANCE AGENTS OF
AMERICA POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(INSURPAC), and Mr. Robert Rusbuldt as
treasurer;

AF# 811

AF# 815

AF# 816

AF# 817

AF# 819

AF# 820



Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 12, 2003

LEADERSHIP IN THE NEW CENTURY (LINC
PAC), and Oldaker, William as
treasurer;

LOCAL 401 IRON WORKERS POLITICAL
ACTION FUND, and JOSEPH J DOUGHERTY as
treasurer;

MEDTRONIC, INC. MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY
FUND, and GARY L. ELLIS as treasurer;
3M COMPANY, and Karen K. Martodam as
treagurer;

NATIONAL PEST CONTROL ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MR
ROBERT M RCSENBERG as treasurer;
NATIONWIDE POLITICAL PARTICIPATICN
COMMITTEE, and CAROL DOVE as
treasurer;

NCR CORPORATION CITIZENSHIP FUND, and
PHILIP D SERVIDEA as treasurer;
NORTHWEST AIRLINES POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and MARTELL, DIANE as .
treasurer;

OLDCASTLE MATERIALS INC. PAC, and
Palmer, Steven 0. as treasurer;
PHILADELPHIZ SUBURBAN CORPORATION H20
PAC, and DAVID E WILSON as treasurer;
T-MOBILE POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and Russc, Tony as treasurer;

TENET HEALTHCARE CORPORATION PAC, and
Limon, Susan Ms. asg treasurer;

THE WILLIAMS COMPANIES INC. PAC, and
DEBORAH LAWRENCE as treasurer;
VENTUREPAC, and MARK G. HEESEN as
treasgurer;

¥CEL ENERGY EMPLOYEE POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and Johnston, Chrigtine as
treasurer;

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AFH

AF{

AF#

AF#

AF#

Page

822

823

825

826

828

829

830

831

833

834

835

B36

837

g38

2



Federal Election Commission Page 3
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 12, 2003

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on June
12, 2003, the Commission took the following actions
on the Final Determination for the 2002 12 Day
Pre-General Report in the Administrative Fines
Program, as recommended in the Reports Analysis
Division’s Memorandum dated June 6§, 2003, on the

following committees:

AF# 798: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that KENDRICK MEEK FOR CONGRESS,
and ANTHONY BRUNSON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate lettex.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, -Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 805: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that HORNBERGER FOR SENATE, and
JOHN K BROWN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.



Federal Election Commission Page 4
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 12, 2003

AFH# B807: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that LEVEL 3 COMMUNICATIONS INC.
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Pribyl, James as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the
civil meoney penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# BOB: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AMERICAN FINANCIAL SERVICES
ASS'N PAC {(FORMERLY- NATIONAL CONSUMER FINANCE ASS'N
PAC), and GEORGE SHAWN MCELWEE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF# B09: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that APPRAISAL INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and DONALD E KELLY as
treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 810: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BUSPAC-POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE OF THE AMERICAN BUS ASSOCIATION, and ERIC
BRAENDEL as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.



Federal Election Commission Page &
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 12, 2003

AF# B1l1i: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that CALFEE HALTER/GREEN FUND
FOR GOOD GCGOVERNMENT, and Oberdorff, Marc as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# B1l5: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that EDS POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and William R. Sweeney Jr. as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AFi# 816: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that ENERGY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE OF TXU CORP, and Gonzales, Jacob as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commisgioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 817: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} make a
£inal determination that FIRST NATIONAL; OF NEBRASKA
PAC, and Castner, Anna as treasurer, viclated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty 8o
indicated; (2)° send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub wvoted affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# B819: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
flnal determination that GREENBERG, TRAURIG,
HOFFMAN LIPOFF, ROSEN & QUENTEL, P R POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and CLIFFORD A SCHULMAN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty eo indicated; (2) send the



Federal Election Commission Page 6
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 12, 2003

appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub wvoted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 820: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that INDEPENDENT INSURANCE
AGENTS OF AMERICA POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(INSURPAC), and Mr. Robert Rusbuldt as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision,

AF# 822: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that LEADERSHIP IN THE NEW
CENTURY (LINC PAC), and Oldaker, William as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF§# 823: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that LOCAL 401 IRON WORKERS
POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and JOSEPH J DOUGHERTY as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 825: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MEDTRONIC, INC. MEDICAL
TECHNOLOGY FUND, and GARY L ELLIS as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively foxr
the decision.
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AF# B26: Decided by a veote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that 3M COMPANY, and Karen K.
Martodam as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 828: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NATIONAL PEST CONTROL
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MR
ROBERT M ROSENBERG as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 829: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} make a
final determination that NATIONWIDE POLITICAL
PARTICIPATION COMMITTEE, and CAROL DOVE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 830: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NCR CORPORATION CITIZENSHIP
FUND, and PHILIP D SERVIDEA as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 831: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NORTHWEST AIRLINES
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARTELL, DIANE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; .(2) send the
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appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Teoner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 832: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that OLDCASTLE MATERIALS INC.
PAC, and Palmer, Steven O. as treasurer, violated 2
U.8.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; {(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 833: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that PHILADELPHIA SUBURBAN
CORPORATION H20 PAC, and DAVID E WILSON as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Themas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 834: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that T-MOBILE POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and Russo, Tony as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 835: Decided by a vote of 6-~0 to: (1) make a
final determination that TENET HEALTHCARE
CORPORATION PAC, and Limon, Susan Ms. as treasurer,’
violated 2 U.8.C. 434{(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF{# 836: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that THE WILLIAMS COMPANIES INC.
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PAC, and DEBORAH LAWRENCE as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 837: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that VENTUREPAC, and MARK G.
HEESEN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub wvoted
affirmatively for the decigion.

AF}# 838: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that XCEL ENERGY EMPLOYEE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Johnston, Christine
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2} send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomag, Toner, and Weintraub wvoted
affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

(00 B /7/@4 @/ /Qﬁm

Late 7 Mary W.
Secretiry of the Comm1351on



| SUBSEQUENT TO THE 6/6/03 MEMORANDUM TO THE COMMISSION IN
| WHICH THEY WERE LISTED AS NOT HAVING PAID, THE COMMITTEES IN
THE FOLLOWING CASES HAVE PAID CIVIL PENALTIES:

799
802
804
814



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation
for the 2002 12 Day Pre-General

}
)
Administrative Fines Final y AF #798
)
)
Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on June 12, 2003 the
Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following
actions in AF #799:

1. Make a final determination that the Joe Finley

for Congress Committee and Jeffrey Marschner,

as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty of $975.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Assistant Staff Director Reports
Analysis Division Memorandum dated June 6,
2003.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
' Do L0
<ilﬂ&naL /{% LQCfﬁfg Vi éktin éi2¢i_xi/ﬁﬁﬂ{_
y Date Mary zngove
' Secrefary of the Commission

lrd
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
Administrative Fines Final AF #802
Determination Recommendation
for the 2002 12 Day Pre-General
Report.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on June 12, 2003 the
Commission decided by a vote of 6~0 to take the following
actions in AF #802:

1. Make a final determination that the Committee

to Elect Madeleine Z. Bordallo 2002 and
P. June Terlaje, as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty of
$2,000.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Assistant Staff Director Reports
Analysis Division Memorandum dated June 6,
2003.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
. o - e
(7 ___/ﬁ_,/“?d);}\'s '%M %u&M
Date Mary W./Dove
Secretfixy of the Commission

lxd
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation
for the 2002 12 Day Pre-General

)
)
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #804
)
)
Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on June 12, 2003 the
Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following
actions in AF #804:

1. Make a final determination that the Meeks for
Congress Committee and Joan E. Flowers, Esq.,
as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess
the civil money penalty of $1,500.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Assistant Staff Director Reports
Analysis Division Memorandum dated June 6,
2003.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
. L c ”
Q--;(,- wo 153 2003 %/u % ZO&M-«_
ﬂ7 Date 4 Mary W//Dove
L Secretidry of the Commission

1xd
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of }

)
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #814
Determination Recommendation )
for the 2002 12 Day Pre-General )
Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on June 12, 2003 the
Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following
actions in AF #814:

1. Make a final determination that the District
Council 37, AFSCME Public Employees Organized
for Pol & Leg Equali and Eliot Seide, as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil
money penalty of $3,000.

2, Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Assistant Staff Director Reportis
Analysis Division Memorandum dated June €,
2003.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

Q:fow /3 Zpo3 %w% A /QM

O/F‘ Date ‘Mary g§7Dove
“ Secretary of the Commission

lxd
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